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In 1915 the London Missionary Society in Papua gave up spiritua jurisdiction
over its three thousand Torres Strait Island converts in northern Australia and,
in a wholesale territorial cession characteristic of the cavaier imperiaism of the
age, entrusted its churches to the Anglican bishop of Carpentaria. Until then,
the Islanders had been Congregationalist converts accustomed to the rule of
patriarchal Samoan pastors and the simple chapel services of the LMS. How-
ever, in the words of the British anthropologist A. C. Haddon, the Islanders
“speedily became interested in the new ritual” of the Church of England and
“went over without a murmur.”

This article examines the weakening of LMS strength before 1915. It argues
that the transfer was eased by the resentment toward Samoan autocracy as well
as the growing authority of Queendand government officidls whose sympathies
lay with the Anglican church rather than with the LMS. In particular, it ana-
lyzes the subsequent process of religious transformation during the long episco-
pate of Stephen Davies, third bishop of Carpentaria (1922-1949), and discusses
the present legacy of Polynesian Congregationalism that lingers in the island
churches of the Torres Strait.

On 1 July 1871 a party of eight teachers from Mare and Lifu in the Loy-
aty Islands, under the leadership of the Reverend Samuel McFarlane of
the London Missionary Society, landed at Darnley Island to begin a mis-
sion to the Torres Strait Islands. At the time of the landfall at Darnley,
there were between four and five thousand people living on the Strait’s
twenty inhabited islands. By the seventies; the Strait’s rich resources in
pearl and trepang (béche-de-mer) were attracting commercia interest,
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and pearlers and trepangers were fishing extensively in its waters.” The
origins of these pearlers were diverse: Torres Strait and South Sea
islanders were joined during the final quarter of the century by Austra-
lian Aboriginal and Japanese divers. Some South Sea Islanders, notably
seamen from Rotuma near Fiji, intermarried with Strait women and
had some influence on island culture in the Strait.

McFarlane, a Scottish engineer-turned-evangelist, regarded the
Strait Islands as “another lona’ that could be used as step?i ng stones’
for the mission he hoped to establish in New Guinea.® McFarlane
believed the mainland of New Guinea to be unfit for permanent Euro-
pean residence. Vexed, too, by the difficulty of living under French
restrictions on the Loyalties, McFarlane and his veteran colleague
A. W. Murray had decided to move to the Strait. The male teachers.
and their wives would be dispersed to various islands, and a “Papuan
Institute” for training Torres Strait 1slanders would be built on Murray
Island, following the example of McFarlan€'s institute at Chepenehe on
Lifu. A second party of Loyalty Islanders came in 1872, accompanied
by a pioneer band of Rarotongans, including wives, who settled at
Redscar Bay on the Papuan mainland.

From 1877 the origina Loyalty Islanders in the Strait began moving
seven hundred kilometers eastward to the new LMS mission outposts
McFarlane was establishing in the Milne Bay area of eastern New
Guinea. Their places were taken by pastors from the Cook Islands and
Samoa whose first party arrived in 1883. Samoan pastors managed the
LMS congregations in the Strait for over thirty years until the First
World War.

IlIness and death dogged McFarlane's Loyalty Island teachers from
the start. Some succumbed to fever; four were massacred. The death
rate among their wives too was appallingly high. Yet footholds were
established on Darnley (teacher Guceng), Yorke (Siwene and Waneg),
Mabuiag (Waunaea), Dauan and Saibai (Locat, Elia, Tepesa, and Keri-
siano), and Murray (Mataika and Jos%aia).3 Taken to Papua in order to
“get the start of [i.e.,, preempt] foreign settlers,” as A. W. Murray put
it, Loyalty Idland teachers aso settled briefly near the Bineturi River
not far from Daru. Still believing it was courting death for a white man
to live in New Guinea, McFarlane preferred to remain at Somerset, on
Cape York, and later chose the “Papuan Institute” on Murray Island as
his home.

However, when further acquaintance with coastal New Guinea by
the LMS missionaries W. G. Lawes (arrived 1874) and James Chalmers
(1877) showed that, athough New Guinea had an irksome climate, it
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was quite possible to live there, the idea of using Murray Iland as a mis-
sion center for the whole of New Guinea was abandoned. Lawes and
Chamers became critical of both McFarlane and his methods. The
newcomers comments on A. W. Murray’s “rose colored glasses’ and of
McFarlane's varnished accounts about his New Guinea exploits provide
a glimpse of the divergence between them: “You know that Mac stands
at the portals and only occasionally looks in,” wrote Chal mers.*

With the disappearance by death or resignation of the forty-five Loy-
aty |slanders,” followed by McFarlan€e's retirement from the mission in
1886, the focus of LMS work shifted at last from the Torres Strait to
New Guinea. Thereafter, the Torres Strait LMS mission lapsed into a
state of stagnation tempered by dispute. McFarlane's English successors
E. B. Savage and A. E. Hunt failed to work in harmony, the institute
at Murray Island collapsed, and the islands became merely the outsta-
tions of the “western and Fly River branch” of the mission. The sole rep-
resentatives of the LMS were Samoan and Ellice Islander pastors.6

Nevertheless, chapels had been established, and for Torres Strait
men, work on pearling luggers now aternated with a life of fishing,
gardening, and church going, Torres Strait Island converts now bore
biblical names such as “Isaac,” “Samuel,” “Ephraim,” and “Jacob,” con-
ferred by the pastors. They sang hymns written in the vernacular by
Loyaty Islanders and Samoans to tunes that came from the English
Nonconformist tradition. Samoan and Rotuman hymns were character-
ized by a two-part harmony with the parts moving independently, the
parts sometimes in antiphon and sometimes overlappi ng.7 In addition to
other secular tunes, they sang songs taught by Samoan pastors and
Rotuman pearlers. The Islanders had also learned a repertoire of Poly-
nesian dances. the Samoans had been anxious to eliminate what were
regarded as objectionable features in Torres Strait choreography and, as
substitutes, had introduced Samoan “sitting down dances.” By the turn
of the century, club dances from Tana (Tanna) in the New Hebrides
could also be seen in the idands, as could Rotuman dances, which were
known generally as the “Taibobo.”®

Songs and dances were incidental to the spread of Christianity, and
the LMS brethren in New Guinea were reproached by visitors for the
partial fallure of their pioneer mission. Certainly, the LMS could point
to the chapels that had been constructed on a number of islands, the
mission vessel built on the dlipway of the “Papuan Institute’” on Murray
Island, and the trandation of the four gospels by A. E. Hunt into the
language of the eastern isands, which is known as Miriam. But such vis-
itors as the Cambridge anthropologist A. C. Haddon and Sir William
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MacGregor, first administrator of British New Guinea, had been
shocked at the contrast between the glowing accounts of mission work
in McFarlane's book Among the Cannibals (1888) and the shabby real-
ity.g Brave words by McFarlane about the Torres Strait being a “firm
footing” and the “key to the interior” of New Guinea, where young men
were “entering and taking possession in the name of Christ,”** were con-
sidered by the late eighties to be nothing more than the vaporings of the
founder’s imagination.

It would be wrong, however, to ascribe the weakness of the Torres
Strait mission to McFarlane alone. In Britain, there had been a gradual
dide in LMS missionary support from its summit of influence in the
1860s and 1870s. The “Forward Movement,” launched in 1895 to mark
the society’s centenary, had failed to arrest the decline. Hence the “glo-
rious results’ couched in the mid-century language of triumph by Mur-
ray and McFarlane seemed to a newer generation of missionaries like
Chamers to belong to a vanished age. Still younger candidates for LMS
service in the South Seas were placing little emphasis on the Atonement
and giving a greater role to the socia consequences of the Incarnation of
Christ, clearing plantations, building up industrial missions, working.
amongst orphans, and speaking less certainly of hellfire™ The modern
Evangelical missionary movement that had fueled the South Seas mis-
sions from the late eighteenth century was on the wane.

An Anglican Foothold in the Strait

While Evangelical Nonconformity faltered, the Anglican dioceses in
Australia were beginning to plant their own outposts in the Torres
Strait. At first the Church of England in Australia had reflected the
lethargy and weakness of church life in early nineteenth-century Brit-
ain. This was certainly the case in the Moreton Bay settlement, which
became part of the self-governing colony of Queensland in 1859. But,
once a bishopric had been established in Brisbane in 1860 under Bishop
E. W. Tufnell and strengthened by his successor, Bishop M. B. Hale,
the clergy were found organizing congregations and building wooden
churches in North Queensland. This activity increased in the wake of
the gold and silver discoveries at Ravenswood (1868), Charters Towers
(1872), and the Palmer River (1872-1873).

More than to any other cause, the extension of the Church of England
to the Melanesian population of the Torres Strait owed its origin to the
mineral boom in North Queensland. So rapid was the influx of white
population and wealth to the “El Dorado” of northeastern Australia
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that the Anglican church in far North Queensland was expected to
become predominantly European and self-supporting. As a commenta
tor on the church in North Queensland wrote laconically, while the gold
boom period lasted, the Australian continent, like a ship, “developed a

temporary list to the northeast, during which everything and everybody
tended to roll in that direction.”*?> An ambitious stone Anglican church

with side aisles and clerestory windows was begun at Thursday Island
in 1890. C. G. Barlow, bishop of North Queensland (1891-1902) began
collecting funds for a Church of England diocese that would include the
ports of Thursday Island, Cooktown, and Port Douglas.® With nearly
£9000 collected by Barlow toward a bishopric endowment, Gilbert
White, archdeacon of North Queensland, was consecrated first bishop
of the Diocese of Carpentaria in 1900.*

The new bishopric encompassed some six hundred thousand sguare
miles, or one-seventh of the land area of continental Australia. Carpen-
taria was more a geographical expression than a diocese. Claiming to be
the fourth largest Anglican diocese in the world, Carpentaria consisted
of the Cape York peninsula north of Cairns, the Gulf country, and the
whole of the Northern Territory. Alice Springs in central Australia was
included. The islands of the Torres Strait, staffed by Samoans and still
under LMS auspices, lay within its boundaries.”® When White arrived
at Thursday Island, the total population living within the borders
defined for his diocese included some 16,500 Europeans; 7,400 Chinese,
Japanese, and Melanesians;, and an Aborigina population estimated at
about 35,000. There were only four Anglican priests besides the bishop
to minister to this scattered population. Their work was to be financed
largely by the endowment. It was expected that Carpentaria would
depend for further financial support upon settled European parishes in
the towns and that the growing port of Cairns would be ceded to Car-
pentaria by the Diocese of North Queensland and would provide con-
siderable income for the new diocese.™

Until 1915 only one Anglican settlement existed in the Torres Strait
Islands, at Moa Island thirty kilometers northwest of Thursday Island.
In 1901 the federal parliament of the new Commonwealth of Australia
had decided to deport the Melanesian laborers, or Kanakas, from
Queendland in order to maintain a white Australia. Following petitions
from Melanesians resident in Queensland and protests by church lead-
ers, a roya commission recommended that those Kanakas who had
been in Australia for over twenty years or who had purchased certain
areas of land should be permitted to stay.” From 1908 Melanesians
totaling about seventy-five, including twenty-five children, settled near
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the village of Wag on Mea-the original population having been scat-
tered by pearl shellers-and Gilbert White sent Florence Buchanan to

be their teacher. In 1999 the five hundred acres set aside for the Angli-
can settlement, known as St. Paul’s reserve, was increased to two thou-
sand acres.’® Florence Buchanan, who was called the * ‘Apostle of Moa,”
endured much suffering until her death in 1913. She used to write on
her school blackboards, “One King One Flag One Fleet One Empire. n19

Apart from St. Paul’s mission to the Queensland Melanesians on Moa
Island, then, al mission work in the Strait was still Congregational. For
twenty years the LMS in Papua had agonized over the future of its
decaying stations begun by McFarlane and the Loyalty Islanders. In
1903 the New Guinea District Committee had decided to recommend to
the society’s directors in London the transfer of the Torres Strait
churches to the bishop of Carpentarla °The LMS held freehold land on
seven islands. It was represented at that time by nine pastors--six
Samoans and Ellice Ilanders and three Torres Strait Islanders. The pas-
tors and Islanders had built eleven churches, some of them fine build-
ings of lime and coral.”* Annual visits were paid by the LMS missionary
resident on the Papuan coastal island of Daru near the Fly River. In
addition, the Papuan Industries, an offshoot of the LMS in New'
Guinea, was operating in the Strait, one of its objects being to enable
Islanders and Papuans to engage in pearling and planting. The Rever-
end F. W. Walker, formerly of the LMS, and his brother Charlie had
established the headquarters of the Papuan Industries on Badu Island
near Moain 1904.2

Handing Over

The LMS felt compelled to hand over its mission to the Anglicans in
1915 for three reasons. First, there was continuing friction between the
Samoan pastors and the state schoolteachers settled on six of the islands
by the Queensland government. The role adopted by the Samoans in
the Torres Strait and New Guinea was influenced by the Evangelica
traditions of British dissent. Masks, paintings, and carvings of various
types were assailed, because they were held in Old Testament teaching
to be an offense in the eyes of God. In 1879, before the coming of the
first Samoan pastors, some of the Polyneaan teachers had joined Samuel
McFarlane on Murray Island for a “ceremony of burning the idols.”
The pastors were acting on lessons learned during their mission training
in Polynesia. But the pastors pattern of behavior was aso grounded in
their Samoan background, and it is probable that nonmission influences
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were at work as well in shaping their responses to Torres Strait Island
culture. For, beneath the religious training of the pastors was what Nor-
man Goodall described as a characteristic mode of reaction to certain
demands and loyalties, incompatible with any other culture, known as
the fa‘aSamoa, the “ Samoan way.”**

A serving pastor in Samoa was referred to as the feagaiga, a word
meaning literally a “contract” or “covenant.” The implication was
clear: the people undertook to recognize the position of the pastor and
respect it; the pastor agreed to recognize the position of the chiefs.”® In
short, the village faifeau (pastor) was given a position regarded as
appropriate for one responsible for the spiritual welfare of the villagers.
As in Samoa, so it was in the Torres Strait. The Samoan missionaries
expected and received presents during the annua “Me” (May) mission
collections, organized by the Samoans to heighten interisland rivalries
and thus produce the maximum show of generosity to the church. In the
Ellice group, also a Samoan missionary dependency, the position of the
pastors appears to have been the same. The description of the Samoan
pastor at Funafuti given by Mrs. Edgeworth David in 1898 seems to
typify also the Samoans in the Strait: “He gives himself a few airs, lords
it, in fact, over king, magistrate, and natives i\ust like an old-fashioned
rector-squire in a country parish in England.”2

However, the European schoolmasters appointed by the Queensland
government represented a rival source of authority to the Samoans in
the islands.”” The government resident, John Douglas, had complained
about the tyrannical regime of the Samoans but until the turn of the
century had lacked the funds to replace them.” The appointment of
the Queensland teachers helped precipitate a confrontation with the
Samoans, dividing the pastors from some of their younger converts. For
example, a government teacher on Y orke Island, a Mr. Connolley, quar-
reled with the Samoan pastor Samuela. It was reported that in March
1914 Connolley entered the LMS church and interrupted the service to
tell the people the pastor was a liar. The teacher is said to have called
out: “There is no God. All the missionaries are telling you people lies. If
there is a God, why does he not heal your sick? | give E}/ou medicine and
that makes you well, but there is no God to help you.”2

Moreover, through the work of the teachers, the young Islanders were
gradually becoming better educated than their Samoan mentors, whose
faulty English was beginning to be the object of mimicry by some young
Islanders. On Murray Iland in particular, the position of the Samoan
pastor Finau was made more difficult by the administration’s appoint-
ment of a court of justice on the island. The court consisted of police-
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men and chiefs known as mamooses, with the schoolmaster J. S. Bruce
as guide, At the same time, pastor Finau set up a court in opposition to
the Queensland government court. Under the church court, pastor
Finau levied fines for disobedience and appointed about twenty of his
own magistrates, also called mamooses. Then John Douglas set up a
Murray Island council representing the districts of the Murray group
under the sanction of his own authority as resident.* Thus, there were
other bodies-- teachers, councillors, and mamooses--competing with
the Samoan pastor for leadership, and it was evident that the Samoans
had ceased to command the respect of Torres Strait Islanders to the
extent they had earlier. A similar rivalry aso soured Queenslander-
Samoan relations on Saibai 1sland.

The second reason for the capitulation of the LMS in the Torres Strait
was administrative. The society was understaffed in Papua and could
not provide a European superintendent, while the Anglican church on
Thursday Island was anxious to expand into the islands and possessed
the means to do so. Finally, the applying of the Commonwealth Naviga-
tion Act to Papua from 1914 would administer the coup de grace to the
LMS: for tariff purposes Papua would be severed administratively from-
Australia including the Torres Strait. This legislation would force the
LMS ocean-going steamer John Williams to enter the Strait at Thursday
Island for customs clearance and leave for Papua in the same way, It
would aso force a local missionary leaving Murray Island for Daru
Island, a few hours sail away in Papua, to clear customs first at Thurs-
day Island, a journey of some four hundred additional miles.** Being
“tied hand and foot” by government regulations, the superintendent
E. B. Riley advised the LMS from Daru that “owing to the attitude of
the Government towards the Anglican Church being so different from
that towards our own brethren,” the interests of the Torres Strait I1slands
would be “best served” by the transfer of the district to the bishop.®

Riley’s claim is supported by evidence. Not only did the government
residents mediate the influence of the Queensland government, but they
had personal reasons to favor the Anglican church. John Douglas, for-
mer premier of Queendand (1877-1879), was resident and police mag-
istrate on Thursday Island (1885-1904). Douglas had been North
Queensland’ s diocesan spokesman at the general synod of the Church of
England in Australia and Tasmania in 1886 and was a member of the
Carpentaria diocesan council. Hugh Milman, his successor (1905-
1912), was the nephew of a notable dean of St. Paul’s Cathedral in Lon-
don as well as brother of an Anglican bishop; and W. Lee Bryce, the
third resident (1912-1916), was an Anglican churchwarden and a mem-
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ber of the diocesan council.** Moreover, the military garrison set up on
Thursday Island in 1895 to operate the artillery battery used the cathe-
dral for military services known as church parades.

The Queensland government officials may have been sympathetic,
but most LMS missionaries in Papua were still loath to cede a Noncon-
formist district to an Anglican bishop. So the LMS vacillated. As late as
1911 the LM S mission staff in Papua had voted £600 for the erection of a
large LMS headstation house at Darnley Iand. One LMS missionary
pointed out to his brethren that the bishop and his clergy were “very
high,” and another, asserting the Anglicans to be “unsuitable,” wanted
the Salvation Army to take over the Torres Strait churches. This didike
was felt in the highest quarters. The foreign secretary of the society,
R. W. Thompson, wrote to the resident missionary on Darnley Island
of his regret that the Queensland government, allegedly under the influ-
ence of the Anglicans, was unwilling to hand over its schools to the
LMS. “I confess | was not surprised,” Thompson went on, “because
when it comes to the scratch the Anglican Church and the brewers and
opponents of all kinds generally have more voting power than we and
our friends”> Offering for sale the society’s aging vessel Niue to the-
Anglican Gilbert White when cession seemed inevitable, E. B. Riley
was inclined to thumb his nose in the direction of the purchaser: “l put
£10 on the price because he is a bishop.”® To the LMS brethren, the
prospect of handing over the fruits of Nonconformist sacrifice to a
mitred High Churchman was, to say the least, unpalatable.

It was more acceptable to the Torres Strait Islanders than to their
LMS district missionary. In March 1915 Bishop Gilbert White trav-
eled around the Strait on the auxiliary schooner Goodwill with F. W.
Walker of the Papuan Industries.®® “We will teach the younger people
our ways,” White wrote, “but we shall have to remember that the elders
will naturally cling to the customs to which they have been used, and
we shall not press them unless they themselves want to be confirmed to
join the church.” The Samoan pastors would remain at their posts until
the LMS could provide for their removal to Samoa. A. C. Haddon
reported a communa swing among the twenty-four hundred Islanders
to the new religion: “The people went over without a murmur and at
once began to follow the form of the English church service, so different
from the simple services they had been used to. . . . The result was that
instead of being Congregationalists whose public and domestic piety
greatly impressed me, the natives suddenly became Anglicans and
speedily were interested in the new ritual and vestments.” 37

A few details had to be settled. The lime and coral churches would be
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enlarged for liturgical purposes, with chapels, side aisles, and ambula-
tories. Deacons (“decond’) of the Congregationalist order would be
metamorphosed into church wardens and required to recite the daily
office with the priest, a custom that long persisted in many islands. The
Book of Common Prayer began to make its appearance, and before long
five hundred candidates were being prepared for confirmation.

There were a few isolated ripples. Sabai Island pearl shellers
informed mainland Papuans some years after the transfer that the LMS
were “not real missionaries, but simply forerunners . . . preparing the
way for the advent of the real minister who would give them the true
word”; Papuan pearlers collected £80 for the building of a church of the
“new religion” at Mabadauan in western Papua. The resident LMS mis-
sionary was annoyed.38 On the whole, however, the transfer from Non-
conformist to Anglican had been harmonious, a process aptly caught in
the name, the Goodwill, of the vessel carrying the bishop and Walker
around the Strait.

Consolidation

The sudden transition from a Congregationalism emphasizing “the glo-
rious undifferentiated gospel of God” to High Church Anglicanism
could not have been accomplished without Islander consent. This con-
sent seems to have been given readily, partly because of growing resent-
ment toward the Samoan pastors. While some Samoans were esteemed,
al the pastors were “fond of power,” as John Douglas once remarked,
and some were despotic.39 In the instance of Pastor Finau on Murray
Island levying fines for disobedience and appointing his own “magis-
trates,” the presence of a rival European authority possessing greater
prestige had then led to conflict. According to Murray Island leaders,
the traditional Murray Island priest-headman Passi had become “fed
up” with Samoan restrictions, and Gilbert White's tour had come “just
in time” to prevent widespread disaffection from the Christian church
on Murray Island.*® The Miriam-speaking people of Mer revered family
headship, and elders were greatly respected. A hereditary priesthood
had held sway over the densely populated Murray island group (eight
hundred to one thousand people in the contact period). The island of
Waier in the Murray group had been reserved exclusively for the priests
of Walet, who visited it for feasting and preserving the dead. The
priests, or zogo-le, of the cult, known as Malu-Bomai, had been largely
suppressed, at least in public, by the Samoan pastors. In Waier, their
departure was not regretted.
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That the Islanders seemed prepared for the new regime is suggested
in a Saiba elder’s speech to White in 1915: “We are like children who
have lost their father and mother. We do not know what to do or where
to look. You will be our father and show us the way to go and how to
live.”* At Saibai, a cargo prophet had appeared, warning the villagers
of the “New Messiah” soon to arrive in the islands.** This prophecy was
an offshoot of the “German Widin” movement, whose doctrines had
first been announced two years before White's visit and which had
become an organized movement in 1914. The cult devotees anticipated
the coming of ancestors bringing money, flour, calico, and other goods;
their leaders were three men who became known as “German Widlin”
and were called “generals’ or “captains.” It had been predicted that the
millennium would begin on Good Friday, 1914; when it did not materi-
alize, the day was postponed, then postponed again. It was reported
that a steamer would tie up at ajetty that would rise out of the sea next
to Saibai. The cult had been strongly opposed by the LMS Samoan pas-
tor on Saibai.®It is possible that the bishop’s arrival on the Goodwill,
while the cult was still at its height, may have been viewed as a fulfill-
ment of the cult leader’s prophecy. Until more anthropological research
has been completed, the historian must rest content with only a partial
understanding of the reason for the welcome given to the Anglicans on
Saiba Island.

Not long after the changeover, White resigned and Henry Newton,
who had been a missionary in British New Guinea from 1899, was
elected bishop of Carpentaria_44 Once enthroned in October 1915,
Newton became concerned about how to minister to the islands. Some
of the islands had a population of not more than fifty, and the priests
would necessarily require something to do besides their religious duties.
Newton decided to create an indigenous Torres Strait ministry, with a
priest on every inhabited island, who would support himself with his
own gardening and fishing. Presiding over the Islander priests would be
the “priest director” of the new mission; and J. J. E. Done, known in
the Islands as “Baba’ or “Father,” arrived in the Strait to occupy that
position from 1915 to 1917.* Done was succeeded in 1917 by the Rever-
end W. H. MacFarlane, welcomed initially by Islanders under the mis-
taken belief that he was the returning son of the LMS mission founder.*®
Newton opened a small theological college on Moa in 1916, and the first
four Islander men were admitted for training.

Unlike the Samoans, the Anglicans tended to be sympathetic to tradi-
tional Torres Strait custom, and on islands such as Murray, episcopal
rule rekindled family leadership after many years of Samoan suppres-
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sion. The hereditary priestly leadership on Murray, the Malu, received
an impetus when Poey (Tauki) Passi, the grandson and heir of the last
zogo-le, began studying on Moa Island for ordination. As Dave Pass,
Poey Passi’s son, said, the clerical orders of the Anglican church were
regarded by many Murray Islanders as the “fulfillment” of the Malu
hereditary priesthood.”” Kabay Pilot, a later student for the Anglican
priesthood, was a descendant of the priest-chiefs of nearby Darnley
Island. In 1919 Poey Passi and part-New Hebridean Joseph Lui were
made deacons on Thursday Island; in the mid-1920s Passi and Lui
were ordained as Anglican priests.*”®

Government control was greater by the time Torres Strait Islanders
ceased to belong to the Nonconformist allegiance. The colony of
Queensland had asserted its jurisdiction over the Cape Y ork islands with
the establishing of the outpost of Somerset in the 1860s, but it had not
annexed such islands as Saibai until 1879 and had only nominal control
in the Strait until about 1885. After 1904, when Torres Strait Islanders
were declared subject to Queensland’'s Aborigina Protection Act of
1897, a virtual cordon was thrown around the Islands to limit the move-
ment of their dwindling population. The cordon would aso prevent set-
tlement in the Torres Strait Islands by Europeans, South Sea Islanders,
and Japanese. Even if the government could not be rid of the Torres
Strait Islanders resident on Thursday Island, Islanders were to be kept
out of “T.l.” as much as possible and segregated within the Torres Strait
“reserve.” The Anglicans established a South Sea Isanders home on
Thursday Island, where, as Bishop Henry Newton put it in 1915, “boys
could have a place to Sleep free of charge away from the temptation to
drink and gamble, and [have] a bible class every night.” While bishop of
Carpentaria, Newton had urged the appointment of a protector of
Islanders with almost absolute power but also with deep understanding
and sympathy. In the Torres Strait Islands, he himself fulfilled the role
in no small measure.”

Politicaly regulated from Thursday Island and instructed by Queens-
land state schoolteachers sympathetic to the church, the Melanesians
were quickly absorbed into the Anglican fold. In fact, the Torres Strait
mission became something of a diocesan showpiece, a miniature “dio-
cese” in itself. However, Murray Island was proud of its reputation as
an independent community, and it is significant that, though some out-
standing clergy came from Murray Island, it was the island the govern-
ment and the Anglican church always found the least tractable. As one
government official put it, the Meriam people of Murray were the Irish
of Torres Strait, with a long tradition of resistance to colonial authority.
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There was in later years a continuing attraction to a corybantic form of
Pentecostalism at Murray and Darnley, the islands farthest removed
from the offices of the resident as well as those of the bishop.™

By the time Newton had resigned to return to New Guinea as bishop
in 1921, a clear pattern of religious development had emerged. The
Islanders had undergone cultural changes at the hands of the British
and Samoan agents of the LMS. There had been considerable musical
enrichment through the songs and hymns of the Loyaty Islanders and
Samoans, and Islanders had abandoned many precontact dances in
favor of a repertoire of Polynesian dances. Many Islanders now bore
biblical names. They had received a Congregational church polity
grafted by the missionaries. They had endured a fairly strict autocracy
under Samoans. There had been some Torres Strait intermarriage with
various South Sea visitors: the prominent Mills, Nona, and Hanken
families bore witness to part-Samoan origins. The mass of the Torres
Strait Ilands under the LMS, Gilbert White had written, had “not onl
become Christian in name, but also to a very large extent in practice.””
It is noteworthy that the first Torres Strait clergy, Poey Pass and Joseph
Lui, had originally been “commended” to the Anglicans by the society.
In turn, the fonts, pulpits, and altars raised by Anglicans in memory of
the LMS pioneers showed that the Anglicans were adopting McFarlane,
Chalmers, and the Loyalty Idanders as their founders. Findly, the
anniversary of the LMS landing, 1 July 1871, was celebrated from 1919
as the festival of the “Coming of the Light”: “Everything possible link-
ing up with past days is being carefully preserved,” wrote the Reverend
W. H. MacFarlane to the LMS directors.>

Stephen Davies

This was the mission inherited by the Right Reverend Stephen Harris
Davies after Newton's brief six-year episcopate in Carpentaria.®® Under
Davies, whose term at Thursday Island spanned a prodigious twenty-
eight years, the monarchica tendencies demanded of a bishop of an
Anglican missionary diocese increased. Davies was an autocrat. A thin,
gaunt man, whose ascetic leanness seemed increasingly to underline the
burdens of office, Davies sometimes came close to despair at the trials of
the Australian north. Since he occupied the bishopric of Carpentaria far
longer than any other bishop before or since, his persona authority
deserves closer scrutiny.

In the Torres Strait his first act as bishop was to excommunicate a
Murray Islander, and he began at Mitchell River Mission on the Gulf of
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Carpentaria by excommunicating four Aborigines. Fifty Anglican con-
verts were excommumcated in the first two months of Davies's episco-
pate in a severance that, in Anglican churches in New Guinea and the
Strait, was carried out with the solemnity of bell, book, and candle>
The mark of Davies's episcopate was authority.

According to his only son, Davies's spiritual model was molded after
early Celtic monks who cultivated a self-denying solitude in their rocky
British outposts The description of the Islands as “another lona’ by
LMS founder McFarlane is strikingly appropriate. As a personality,
Davies was self-assured and aloof. These traits are scarcely surprising
considering Davies's background. His childhood had been spent in a
rectory in Shropshire, a county scarcely touched by the industrial revo-
lution and in whose villages squire and rector were often neighbors. The
young Davies, moreover, had been not only the rector’s son but nephew
of the squire as well, having the freedom of the adjoining hall, with its
copper beech-shaded gardens and croquet lawn. There were nine chil-
dren. Apart from two killed during the First World War, one of his
brothers served during the war as a doctor in an Indian hospita in
Mesopotamia. Another, Vice Admiral Sir Arthur Davies, was chief of
staff of the British Atlantic Fleet between 1924 and 1927. A tea planter
brother in Assam and the bishop completed the Davies family circle.®

Davies accomplished short-distance visits to the Strait communities in
the twenty-one-ton Francis Pritt, the sixteen-ton Herald (replaced in
1939 by the Torres Herald), or the eight-ton Banzai. He was away from
Thursday Island in the Islands and the Gulf of Carpentaria much of the
year once the wet, or “Nor'west,” season of the early months had
passed. Like his admira brother, Davies was a good seaman and, when
In residence, a genial host to offlcers and crews of the Roya Australian
Navy visiting Thursday Island.>” His assurance of authority was re-
flected in his first visit to the Mitchell River in 1922, when older mem-
bers of the staff were interrogated regarding “the aims of their indus-
trial work”: Davles concluded that “they did not seem to have thought
out their position.” *® What the older staff members thought of their new
diocesan’s forthright questions is not recorded. However, in the Torres
Strait Islands, a society conditioned by traditional respect for clan heads
overlaid by forty years of Polynesian authoritarianism, the people
seemed to have adapted easily to Davies's rule. On visits the bishop was
welcomed by banners saying “Hosanna to the Son of David’ to the
accompaniment of Evangelical hymns of the LMS. He walked on
woven mats to his receptions, a postcontact tabu of Polynesian origin,
for a chief’s feet must not touch the sand. Years after his episcopate of
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nearly thirty years ended, there were many Torres Strait Islanders for
whom a question under dispute was settled by the saying “Lord Bishop,
im bin say!” _ _ o _

Yet it 'would be incorrect to describe such behavior in the Strait as
obsequious; displays of deference to authority by Islanders appeared
confident and self-possessed, recalling similar displays by Fijians to high
chiefs. Of Davies's pontifical visitations as Lord Bishop of Carpentaria,
a European priest wrote many years later that Davies adopted this
hierarchical grandeur “because it was desperately demanded of him.”>®
To his staff Davies appeared smple and unaffected. An Australian
teacher in the diocese who stayed with Davies at Bishop’s House said
that the bishop had “no pomp about him.”® The initiative for the dis-
play of episcopa rule was taken by the Islanders, whose society of
chiefly deference was easily accepted by one accustomed to rectory and
hall in county England.

The Island converts, then, came beneath the authority of the bishop
and the immediate ecclesiastical control of his delegate, W. H. Mac-
Farlane. However, while the bishop remained a spiritual monarch, the
Islanders were aso involved to an extent in the decision-making pro-
cesses of the church, a leaven that may have owed something to their
Congregationalist nurturing. From 1923 a series of conferences of
Torres Strait LMS “decona,” or deacons, known as churchwardens in
the Anglican system, met under Davies's direction at St. Paul’s mission
on Moa. Undoubtedly the Congregational precedent of local church
order contributed to the effectiveness of such conferences. The chair-
manship of the Reverend Joseph Lui was also significant, for it was said
that, in addition to Lui’'s evident “sense of vocation,” he “could also
show firmness and direction when required.” At the first conference the
churchwardens discussed the question of higher education for their chil-
dren and the matter of “church dues,” the mission contribution that had
its origins in earlier LMS “Mei” mission collections. The churchwar-
dens' conferences became a familiar institution in the Torres Strait.

By this time, the churches in the Torres Strait were becoming symbols
of local pride. In a society where church buildings surpassed al others
in grandeur, the imposing size of an ecclesiastical structure reflected the
municipal spirit of a community. Plain LMS chapels, originally given
biblical names from 1871 such as “Bethel” (Badu), “Etena’ or Eden
(Mabuiag), “Salom” (Yam), and “Panetta’ (Saibai), were rededicated
in honor of saints. The huge Evangelical pulpits that had dominated
their interiors were dismantled, and the timber was used for atars.®
Walls were rebuilt to take in Anglican additions of sanctuary, chancel,
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baptistry, vestry, and side chapels. Arches leading to side aisles were
common for overflowing numbers; in this way Panetta chapel at Saibai
was expanded to seat five hundred at the renamed Church of the Holy
Trinity. A lime-making technique copied from LMS South Sea teachers
was to hew coral blocks from reefs at low tide and pile the coral into fire
pits for a fortnight. Church interiors had to be richly ornamented, so
polished shells --spotted cowrie and pearly nautilus--were set into
upper walls and altar rails.

The size of such newly built churches as on Moa (1931) and Badu
(1933) also reflected interisland rivalry. When Moa's new church was
begun, the five hundred Badu villagers, traditional enemies of the
nearby Moa people, insisted that the length of their new church must
outstrip that of Moa's. Most Island churches, however, were not new
buildings but old chapels rebuilt. Darnley Idlanders, proud that their
island had first seen the “Coming of the Light,” created the most intri-
cate facade in the Strait. Over the LMS-built Zion chapel, an enlarged
structure was decorated with turrets and renamed All Saints Church. A
craftsman from Rotuma fashioned its atar cross and lights from pol-
ished red wongai wood and inlaid the work with mother-of-pearl. Por-
traits of Samuel McFarlane and James Chamers were placed in the
vestry to remind first-generation Anglicans of the mission’s founders.
Finaly, the building was decked in garlands of frangipani and dedi-
cated by Bishop Davies to the booming of wooden drums. Mgor Raven-
Hart, author of a widely circulated book on the Strait, wrote that All
Saints put in mind a scaled-down imitation of a Spanish church, “a
miniature, doll’s size cathedral . . . a perfect gem.”62 Though Anglican
ornamentation of such churches as Darnley’s All Saints had sometimes
been of baroque weight, the severe outlines originaly planned by their
Nonconformist builders remained easily recognizable.

The historian of the neighboring Anglican Mission in New Guinea
described the period from 1910 as the “golden age” of the Melanesian
village. In the Strait the description “golden age’ fitted well the theo-
cratic communities molded by Bishop Davies's clergy. No village epito-
mized these communities better than St. Paul’s mission village on Moa
in the mid-twenties. The community of St. Paul’s, with the nearby vil-
lages of Kubin and Pethin, was based on intermarriage between indige-
nous women and Queensland Melanesians. Moa appeared frequently in
the officia literature of the diocese. The island was topped by Mount
Augustus (Moa Peak), sometimes shrouded in mist; its lower hills sloped
down to the white beaches of the southeast, where the red roofs and
romanesque outlines of a newly built church with theological college
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showed through the coconut palms. At the landing the vegetation was
cleared in front of the monument to Florence Buchanan. Behind the
monument the full apparatus of a theocratic community was revealed:
dispensary, boarding school and girls hostel with “high school class,”
church building, and clergy house. The master builder, Junius Schom-
berg, was aso the priest, filling the role of manager, bookkeeper, and
recorder; as the Carpentarian reported with some understatement,
“Many of his tasks do not belong to his priestly office.”® The land of .
Paul’s was legally under the joint custodianship of the Queensland resi-
dent on Thursday Island and the bishop, who was trustee for the
Queensland Melanesians. Like a medieval prelate, the bishop was
empowered to convene courts for certain civil as well as ecclesiastical
offenses, a power he rarely exercised.” This oversight by state and
church was mediated by a policeman and three church council repre-
sentatives, each wearing a red jersey emblazoned with the word *coun-
cillor.”® At the small theological college, St. Paul’s, the first ordinations.
took place in 1924, when two St. Paul’s men, Captain Oth and Sailor
Gabey, were made deacons.

Situated near Thursday Island and opposite the progressive commu-
nity on Badu Island, Moa was better fitted for energetic advance than
some other groups in the Torres Strait. Moreover, Moa's commercial
prospects were enhanced by the example of F. W. Walker’'s Papuan
Industries company worked by the Badu pearlers. Through a large store
on Badu, the Papuan Industries bought marine produce from the Moa
Islanders, selling foods and other consumer goods in exchange. A pri-
mary objective of Walker's company was to assist groups of Islanders to
buy or build their own luggers, though only one or two luggers were
ever built on the Badu dlipway. Soon many Island communities in the
western group had bought their own boats. Inspired by the P.I., the
Moa Fishing Company was formed under the eye of the priest director
of the Strait in 1925. The companies were financed by worker-share-
holders in a venture described approvingly in mission publications as
“communistic.” The company was a portent of a more explicitly social-
istic venture begun on the mainland toward the end of Davies's episco-
pate, the Lockhart River Co-operative. During the brief life span of the
Moa Fishing Company (1925-1932), the diving and fishing expeditions
yielded varying profits for shareholders. Rifts between clans contrib-
uted to the decline of the company after a promising beginning.®

The Torres Strait people were generous to their churches, supporting
them with a mixed subsistence-and-money economy. Churchwardens
were meeting to discuss common problems, and an Islander priesthood
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was emerging. For their first curacies, Strait clergy were normally sent
as “missionary” chaplains to mainland Aboriginal settlements, particu-
larly to the Edward River people, whom Davies lightheartedly referred
to in the diocesan newsletter as “the wild men of the Diocese.” Torres
Strait teachers and clergy were paid from an annual grant by the Aus-
t.alian Board of Missions in Sydney, supplemented by local offerings
from pearl shell profits won by divers on the luggers.

In some ways, Carpentaria s offshore Torres Strait mission was begin-
ning to fulfill the principle embodied in Henry Venn's mature nine-
teenth-century vision of a self-supporting and self-propagating church.
So, by the late twenties it seemed to Davies that Islanders should take
counsdl in a self-governing Carpentaria diocesan synod. In 1931 seven-
teen European and Idander delegates (twelve clerical, five lay) met on
Thursday Island under the authority of the bishop. NoO representatives
of Aboriginal settlements were present. The distances involved in trav-
eling from parishes and missions to biennia diocesan synods were stag-
gering and often prevented attendance at subsequent synods from such
parishes as Alice Springs and Darwin. But Melanesian clergy from the
nearby islands were always prominent.”” The synods were examples of
joint Melanesian and European decison making in action. Like the
Diocese of Carpentaria itself, they were without equal in other Angli-
can missionary enterprises in Africa and the South Pacific before 1939.
The seasoned participation by Melanesians from the Strait in these
assemblies must be added to the other legacies bequeathed by the Con-
gregational founders of the Strait churches to their Anglican successors.

Synods on Thursday Island provided occasions for reappraisals of
church and sometimes government policy. Concerned to preserve har-
mony between church and state, Davies rarely criticized publicly the
Queensland government’s performance on Aboriginal issues. In corre-
spondence with the Pearl Shellers Association from the twenties, the
bishop pointed out that in many cases Moa men were worth more than
the minimum wage; in 1924 he interviewed Crown law officers and a
federal parliamentarian to complain about “the wages question.” There
was a police action at Cowal Creek on Cape York in 1928, after which
Davies gave the magistrate a chance to clear himself by arresting the
policeman concerned. But Davies used the 1935 synod to make a tren-
chant attack on the “Aboriginas Protection and Restriction of the Sale
of Opium Amendment Act” passed in Brisbane in the previous year. He
called it “an infringement of the rights of citizenship possessed by some
of the coloured people of Queensland.” This was reflected in a synod
motion urging the federal government of Australia to strip Queensland
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and other states of power over Aboriginals and Torres Strait Islanders,
and to assume control of al Aboriginal people within the Common-
wealth. Such resolutions mirrored the dominance of the bishop in carry-
ing the Carpentaria synod with him. The motion was later unsuccess-
fully proposed by Davies to the Queensland provincial synod of the
Anglican Churchin 1935.° A few months later, during a four-month
strike by Torres Strait trochus divers in early 1936, Davies wrote to the
governor of Queensand suggesting that the system of payment, which
entailed a deduction by the protector, was among the major causes of
the strike.”

Drought, Cyclone, and Depression

One reason why the bishop remained monarch of the diocese was the
declining European population of northern Australia. Carpentaria had

been originally created as a diocese whose income was expected to come
largely from white settlements; but steadily and inexorably these settle-

ments were beginning to become ghost towns, and Carpentaria was
becoming more Melanesian and Aboriginal in character. Between 1910

and 1930, for example, the populations of Cooktown and Croydon-Nor-

manton in the Gulf declined from 900 to 250 and from 2,200 to 450,

respectively. Where Gilbert White had confirmed five times the number

of Europeans as he had Aborigines and Islanders, Davies's confirma-

tions showed an opposite bias. of 375 persons admitted by Davies to full

membership in 1935, for example, only seventeen were of European

descent. Such a reverse was to be expected when the settled ministry

once existing in Cooktown and the Gulf towns of Georgetown, Burke-

town, and Normanton had shrunk with the European population. In

1927 Davies had taken away the service registers from Christchurch,

Cooktown, after the resignation of the last resident rector, Henry Mat-

thews. He was “convinced that church life was finished there.” As for

Darwin, whose population did not decline but showed sturdy indiffer-

ence to the church, Davies made an entry concerning the parish priest

in his diary for 12 May 1924: “Heard from |. L. Skelton that he wishes

to leave Darwin, is this place fit for any Priest; a Jeremiah aone could

endure.” Skelton left the diocese in 1925.”

Not only did the loss of European population increase Carpentaria’s
reliance on the bishop, but it also highlighted the Torres Strait Islands as
the sole center of measurable progress in the Anglican church. The
Depression compounded the financial slump reflected in the continuing
decline in the European population. In 1931 the Australian Board of



Torres Strait 1sland Churches, 1871-1949 21

Missions cut its grant to New Guinea and Carpentaria by 20 percent
and the diocese’s overdraft limit was reached quickly. By November
missionary stipends, including the bishop’'s, could not be paid. Cables to
London brought some emergency funds from the Carpentaria Associa
tion in England, but some European staff had to be dismissed to con-
serve money. The effects of the church's evaporating reserves lasted
throughout the thirties and made it impossible to augment staff. At
Thursday Island’s All Souls cathedral, William Burvill was obliged to
combine a plurality of offices. subdean, vicar, surrogate, and diocesan
registrar (1930-1940).

“A Jeremiah aone could endure,” Davies had written of Darwin. It
could have been a comment on Davies's relations with some of his dioce-
san staff. As one writer observed in the 1960s, what has been ascribed to
autocracy in Davies, the aloof prelate, may have been partly due to
exasperation. The impossible shortages of equipment and sometimes
vile climate, with its wet and dry seasons, brought out the worst in cer-
tain of Davies's staff. The notable Australian photographer Frank Hur-
ley, commissioned by the Australian Board of Missions to make a film
of the mission in 1920, had been reduced to a state of peevish inertia
within two months of arriving in the Strait.”* As for the permanent
staff, the same writer later wrote with acid verve of Davies's less
successful workers: “So many of the missionaries sent up to him bore
some resemblance to their New Testament prototypes described by St.
Paul as ‘the offscourings of mankind.” All types of misfits and neurotics
unconsciously hoping to receive from primitive and unsuspecting na-
tives the adulation denied them by their more sophisticated compatriots
were sent to him over the years. The bishop did not suffer these fools
gladly.””® Such acerbity is unkind, but it bears witness to the blame that
powerfully motivated workers heap on one another for collective fail-
ure. There were some major personality clashes in the Torres Strait.
One result was the increasing emphasis placed by Bishop Davies on
local Islanders as church leaders, who were at least acclimatized and, in
the words of one commentator, “less likely to throw the jam tins at each
other in the monsoon.” Pity trod on the heels of exasperation, and what-
ever their limitations, Davies always supported his European staff when
they were in difficulties or under criticism.”

While the European part of the diocese atrophied, life in the Melane-
sian churches of the Strait prospered on a mixed subsistence-and-
trochus economy. Voluntary labor, enhanced by shell earnings accumu-
lated during the twenties, had enabled building programs to continue
during the Depression, even though the relative prosperity in pearling
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had come to an end in 1930. The Reverend E. J. Taffs, rector of the
European town of Mossman, had to wait twenty-five years to rebuild
his church demolished in a cyclone in 1911; but in the Strait during the
fifteen months after January 1933, Davies found himself in a busy
round of church openings: dedicating new theological college buildings
on one island; opening a rebuilt church seating five hundred on
another; and laying the foundation stone for a new church on a third.
For the latter, St. Marks at Badu, he used a trowel with its haft made of
dugong tusk and its blade of polished turtle: a thousand Islanders were
in attendance. The church was of cathedral-like proportions. Graced by
cool arches, it was built in two years by Islanders under A. G. Harris,
an overseer whose salary they paid; and in spite of the recession in the
trochus industry, the £999 promised by the three villages to complete
the structure was paid up. The altar at Badu was built as a memorial to
the Reverend F. W. Walker, Congregationalist founder of the Papuan
Industries (an irony, since as a Nonconformist, Walker had been explic-
itly forbidden by Bishop Newton and his successor to take communion
at an Anglican atar).” The prosperity of Anglican life in the Strait was
not confined to church buildings. “In every isand,” wrote the diocesan
historian, “there was a branch of the Heralds of the King, while the
Mothers Union was established on most of the islands.” There were also
flourishing branches of the Boy Scout movement, with annual camps
under priestly leadership,

This activity was accompanied by ritua even more elaborate than
previously: the use of incense from 1922; daily cathedral celebration of
the Mass under subdean Burvill from 1932; stations of the cross from the
mid-thirties, with liturgical processions carrying incense through vil-
lage lanes in the idlands, often led by young trepangers in vestments. It
was not for nothing that the Diocese of Carpentaria was reckoned part
of the “biretta belt” of Anglo-Catholicism permeating much of northern
Queensland. Marked by an increasing use of ritual, there was a general
buoyancy in church life in the Strait during the thirties.

What had happened in Carpentaria before the Second World War is
without parallel in missionary dioceses of the Anglican Communion. In
1900 Carpentaria had been founded as a diocese whose income was to
be drawn mainly from white settlements; but drought, cyclone, and
depression had done their work, and the Europeans were withdrawing.
By the thirties, the settled parish population in al its towns except
Darwin and Thursday Island had virtualy ceased to exist. In their
place, as the Carpentarian remarked, a “coloured” population that
could live at a lower standard than the whites was “thriving and
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increasing.” In spite of the European facade to Carpentaria’ s synods, in
the years leading to the Second World War Carpentaria had become
more and more a missionary diocese.”

Evacuation

In February 1942 Japanese forces raided and bombed the city of
Darwin. Troops had been stationed at Darwin and Port Moresby in
Papua from 1941, and in early 1942 women and children on Thursday
Island were evacuated on the S.S. Wandana, with the men following.
They were allowed one suitcase for each family.” On Thursday Island,
a proclamation was issued by the commander of the Torres Strait Force
declaring an area within a hundred-mile radius of Thursday Island an
emergency area. Bishop Davies, who had left in 1941 to attend to hisiill
wife and child, had appointed the Reverend W. J. A. Daniels (1930-
1946, 1955-1958) as subdean of the cathedral and was cut off by the
evacuation of European civilians from Thursday Island. The European
priest at St. Paul’s, Moa, fled, leaving his Torres Strait staff in charge.”
The bishop set up the diocesan registry in Townsville, his house on
Thursday Island having been taken over as army headquarters. In both
Thursday Island and Darwin, houses and churches were looted by
hoodlums, many of whom were members of the Australian armed ser-
vices. Of the 234 houses taken over by the army on Thursday Island,
only 103 remained standing at the end of the war. The small cathedra
organ, installed in 1941, disappeared without explanation while the
troops were in control of the idand. Darwin’s stone church, which
Davies had threatened to demolish rather than alow the army to use,
was also looted. At Moa, St. Paul’s College was closed and the theologi-
cal students joined the eight hundred men of the Torres Strait Light
Infantry Battalion.”

During the three years of hostilities, the Reverends Poey Passi, Kabay
Pilot, and Francis Bowie ministered to the Torres Strait congregations,
Joseph Lui having died in 1941. At Kubin village on Moa, on a night
before the Battle of the Coral Sea in May 1942, a number of Islanders
clamed they saw what they described as a vision of Christ in the sky
above Kubin, with his hands outstretched in blessing and protection.
News of their “vision” soon spread, and the Islanders took it as a special
sign to them that their islands would be safeguarded. The only islands
in which direct action took place were Hammond (Aada) and Horn
(Laforey). The vision at Kubin was later portrayed on canvas in the
reredos in All Souls Cathedral, where the Australian artist Cohn Tress
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painted Christ crowned and with arms outstretched over the islands of
the Strait.

The first three postwar Torres Strait ordinands, Boggo Pilot, Kiwami
Dal, and Sagi Ambar, were ordained deacons in 1949, the year Davies
ended his long episcopate.” Davies had inherited a diocese devastated
by cyclone in the twenties and brought to bankruptcy in the thirties. A
good deal of the remainder in the see town was destroyed not by Japa-
nese armies, but by Australian troops. Mrs. Davies and her son Stephen
did not return to Thursday Island following the war, and the bishop
lived alone. As Stephen Davies recalled, his father's last years were
lonely ones. A poignant picture of Davies after the Second World War
was provided by an admirer, A. P. B. Bennie: “To see him wracked by
cardiac asthma, bent with pain and alone in his ruinous episcopa house
was pathetic. For he had forbidden any repairs whatever to be made to
it until the dwelling of every single member of his staff, whether white
or coloured, was sound and serviceable.”®

On retiring in 1949 Davies left his successor a report on conditions in
the diocese and the clergy. Davies bequeathed several troublesome
clergy: two Torres Strait Isanders who had been ordained together in
1936 were “badly prepared’ and had deserted their posts, he would not
advise that either man be restored. Some of Davies's clergy had bene-
fited from the routine term for Island priests served among Aborigines
on the Queensland mainland. Among these priests who received praise
was Kabay Pilot, the son of the last pre-Christian priest-chief of
Darnley. Another, Francis Bowie, of mixed Malay-Badu Island parent-
age, was “the best of Native Clergy.” Francis Bowie, Davies added, “has
great authority and power with both mainlanders and Islanders.”®

“Authority and power” might be Davies's own epitaph, confirmed by
the Torres Strait Islanders saying “Lord bishop, im bin say!” W. J. A.
Daniels echoes these testimonies to the third bishop’s strong episcopal
identity: in Daniels's words, Davies was “a bishop in every sense of the
word.” That is. “He knew his people, he understood them, what he said
was law and the people respected him. They aways sought his opinion,
even after they had seen [Mr. Cornelius O’ Leary,] the Director of Native
Affairs.”® As for the Torres Strait Islanders response, it was most strik-
ingly revealed during and after the Islands' maritime strike in 1936 in
which the wage-earning Melanesians ceased work for four months in
protest against low pay and the system of deductions made by the chief
protector--a subject on which Davies had corresponded in the twenties.
Three years after the strike, the chairman of the Murray Island council
approached Davies unsuccessfully with the proposal that he assume
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temporal as well as spiritual control of the Islands by becoming protec-
tor of Islanders himself.%* It was an echo of Davies's predecessor Henry
Newton, the bishop who had urged appointment of such a protector.

Postscript

If Carpentaria is more a geographical expression than a diocese, the evi-
dence accumulated suggests that over the span of eighty years the
Aboriginals and Torres Strait Islanders were able to use the religion left
by departing white settlers as a beam of support in the bewildering sea
of culture change then being thrust upon them. The resident Strait pop-
ulation, having risen steadily from the 1920s until the 1960s, declined
again by 40 percent, from seven to four thousand in the twenty years
before 1988; but the identity of its Christianized communities has
remained extremely durable.

There has been a fragmentation of religious affiliation between
Anglicans and Pentecostalists in some eastern isdands. In the eastern
Strait many islanders, especially from Murray and Darnley in the east-
ern group, have migrated to mainland Queensland in search of work.®*
A feature of the religious adjustments hastened by migration to North
Queensland has been the attachment of a minority of Islanders to vari-
ous Pentecostal sects. The Pentecostal challenge to the Anglican monop-
oly (virtually all Islanders have been nominal Anglicans) arose from the
conversion before the Second World War of an extended family group
on Darnley to the Assemblies of God. There was also a lingering griev-
ance that Darnley, scene of the “Coming of the Light,” had not been
given primacy as the choice of a site for the cathedral instead of Thurs-
day Island. Within Darnley, relations between descent lines, fanned by
religious exclusiveness, were sometimes so strained as to prevent the vis-
iting diocesan bishop from saying Mass until the families promised to
settle their differences.”

While fragmentation occurred in some eastern islands and on the
mainland owing to the encroachments of Pentecostalism, the pattern of
monolithic Anglicanism was maintained elsewhere. In the western
islands the Congregationalists-become-Anglicans have proved resistant
to yet another conversion, to fundamentalist Pentecostalism.®® How-
ever, the Anglican facade stamped on the western communities has not
overwhelmed their sturdy Congregationalist independence. Residents
of such islands as Badu, for example, have expressed their desire on
occasions for their clergy to be elected by their own congregations
rather than appointed by the bishop.
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Pentecostalism has weakened the dual Congregational and Anglican
heritage of some transplanted Islanders. But continuity rather than
change has been the dominant feature of Torres Strait Islander religion,
The Anglican churches framed on the chapels built by McFarlane's
teachers remain the religious centers of gravity in the Islands. Viewed
from the sea, the silhouette of each Torres Strait Island settlement is still
topped by a cross.
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